Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-1-2014

Garner v. Garner Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41898

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 3, 2010, the plaintiff-appellant, Monica Gross formerly known as Monica Garner ("Monica" hereafter), filed for divorce from the defendant-respondent, Chris Garner ("Chris" hereafter). On June 28, 2010, Chris filed his answer and counterclaim. Monica was represented by Mr. Stan Welsh of the firm Cosho Humphrey. Chris was represented by Mr. Kelly Whiting. The parties were both represented by their respective counsel throughout the divorce proceeding, including the signing of the Stipulation for Entry of Judgment which was filed on October 26, 2010.

On October 26, 2010, a Judgment was entered pursuant to the stipulation divorcing Monica and Chris. Two children were born of the marriage, namely B.G. born or and K.G. born or

On September 9, 2010, the parties entered into a Parenting Plan which is attached to the judgment which includes a custody schedule agreed to by the parties. The custody schedule provides as follows:

School Schedule: The children will reside with Mother and spend every other weekend with Father from Friday after school until Monday to school and each Wednesday from after school until Thursday to school, if there is not school on Thursday the exchange is at 7:30 a.m. at Mother's residence. If there is not school on Friday the exchange time is at 3:45 p.m. at Mother's residence. If there is not school on Monday the exchange time is at 11:00 a.m. at Mother's residence.

• • • •

Summer Schedule: Summer will be divided equally from the first Friday school is out until seven days before school resumes. Each parent will rotate having the children every two weeks. Mother will commence the rotation. Mother and Father will exchange the children every other Friday at 6:00 p.m.

Under the custody schedule, Chris' percentage of overnights in a year was approximately 40%.

The Judgment modified the custody schedule in the Parenting Plan and provides as follows:

- 2. <u>PARENTING PLAN</u>: Attached hereto, and by reference incorporated herein, is a Parenting Plan. The parties shall comply with all terms of the Parenting Plan with the following changes:
 - 2.01 Under <u>School Schedule</u>, Christopher's weekend shall end on Sunday at 7:00 p.m. instead of Monday morning and the Wednesday visit shall end Wednesday evening at 8:30 p.m.

Thus, the custody provision in the Judgment modified the custody provision in the Parenting Plan by taking away from Chris three overnight periods of custody every two weeks—i.e. the Wednesday overnight period every week and the Sunday overnight period every other week. The custody provision in the Judgment reduced Chris' percentage of overnights in a year to approximately 22%.

On October 26, 2010, an Affidavit Verifying Income was filed, which set the parties' child support guideline annual income at \$47,142.00 for Chris and \$54,677.00 for Monica.

Under the custody schedule in the Parenting Plan where Chris had approximately 40% of the overnights in a year, Chris' child support obligation should have been set at a total of \$147.00 per month according to the Idaho Child Support Guidelines ("Guidelines" hereafter). The \$147.00 support total does not account for the tax dependency exemptions for the two children.

Under the custody schedule in the Judgment where Chris had approximately 22% of the overnights in a year, Chris' child support obligation should have been set at a total of \$720.08 per month according to the Guidelines. Again, the \$720.08 support total does not account for the tax dependency exemptions for the two children.

The child support provision in the Judgment provides, in part, as follows:

4. <u>CHILD SUPPORT</u>: Commencing November 1, 2010, and on the first day of each month thereafter, Christopher shall pay to Monica child support in the amount of \$50.00 per month until reaches the age of eighteen (18).

The Judgment provides no description of how the \$50.00 child support was calculated. The Judgment does not state why there was a deviation from the child support amount of \$720.08 under the Guidelines.

Despite the child support obligation of \$720.08 per month that should have been set according to the Guidelines under the custody schedule in the Judgment, Chris' child support obligation was set at a total of \$25.00 per month per child. Since the entry of the Judgment on October 26, 2010, Chris has saved \$670.08 per month which he should have paid under the Guidelines.

It was not a simple matter of oversight or miscalculation that led to the drastically deficient amount of child support in the Judgment. If that were so, Monica could have simply filed a motion under I.R.C.P. 60(a) to correct a clerical mistake or under I.R.C.P. 60(b) for mistake or inadvertence. Monica willingly admits that the child support deficiency was part of an agreement that was made between Monica and Chris. Essentially, Monica agreed to a reduced amount of child support in order to obtain an increased amount of custody of the children. The parties' agreement is reflected by the provision in the Judgment which modifies the custody schedule in the Parenting Plan and the provision in the Judgment setting child support at a grossly inadequate level of \$25.00 per month per child.

The Parenting Plan also provided as follows:

- Chris and Monica would both pay \$600.00 per year for school clothes for the children;
- Chris and Monica will contribute \$30.00 per month for school lunches for the children;
- In even years Monica will purchase school supplies in odd years Chris will purchase school supplies; and
- Other school costs such as class fees, yearbooks, and activity cards will be split equally between Monica and Chris.

On November 7, 2012, Monica filed the Plaintiff's Motion in the Form of a Complaint to Modify the Judgment. Monica sought to modify the child support order to reflect the actual custody schedule in the Judgment rather than the custody schedule listed in the Parenting Plan and also to reflect the current incomes of the parties.

On November 20, 2012, Chris filed a Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Motion in the Form of a Complaint to Modify the Judgment (Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings) ("motion to dismiss" hereafter), which argued that there had been no substantial and material change in circumstances since the entry of the Judgment on October 26, 2010.

On January 23, 2013, Monica filed the Plaintiff's Motion/Objection to Deny Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Motion in the Form of a Complaint to Modify Judgment. Monica argued that her modification action should be allowed to proceed on several grounds.

The first ground was, as explained above, that the child support fixed in the judgment in the amount of \$25.00 per month per child was grossly disproportionate to the child support that should have been awarded under the Guidelines in the amount of \$720.08 per month. In support of the first grounds of her modification, Monica argued that rules contained within the Guidelines were not followed in setting the original child support amount. Moreover, Monica cited Sections 1-5 of the Guidelines in her objection to Chris' motion to dismiss arguing that the Guidelines provide the substantial and material change in circumstances.

The second ground argued by Monica was that equity must intervene to modify child support orders not in conformity with the Guidelines. The trial court sits as both a court of law and a court of equity. Monica argued that equity must intervene to modify the grossly inadequate child support order entered in this case.

The third ground for Monica's modification action was that there had been a substantial and material change of circumstances supporting a modification of child support because Chris' yearly gross income had increased by \$3,462.00 since the entry of the Judgment on October 26, 2010. By adding Chris' additional income, Chris' current child support should be \$761.50 before accounting for the tax exemptions.

On February 26, 2013, Chris' motion to dismiss came on for hearing and the trial judge ruled as follows:

Ms. Garner has filed an action asking the Court to modify this based on child support calculations and demonstrating as a bootstrap argument that the application of all of the standards with these income numbers would show that the child support is adequately — or an inadequate number. **It's grossly inadequate**.

And Mr. Eismann points to the child support rules as grounds for modification but he's missing the point. He's missing the same point that Mr. Garner missed in the last action and that is there is no material change in circumstance.

• • • •

And so in this instance without meeting the threshold, I'm granting the motion of the defendant. The matter is dismissed. I found it was brought without any basis. This record is clear. The income was there to begin with and, you know, I suppose had a different legal tact been made at the time that Mr. Garner filed his action, the whole matter could be addressed. I'd suggest if either one of you like the positions you're in, you might want to consider mediation.

Hrg. Transcr. 9: 9-15 & 10: 12-20 (Feb. 26, 2013) (emphasis added).

On March 1, 2013, Chris filed a Motion for Attorney Fees and a Memorandum of Costs and Affidavit of Anne Marie Kelso requesting \$1,012.50 in attorney fees pursuant to Idaho Code § 12-

121 and I.R.C.P. 54. On March 15, 2013, Monica filed the Plaintiff's Motion to Disallow Costs and the Affidavit of Plaintiff re: Objection to Memorandum of Costs. The grounds of Monica's motion were as follows:

- Monica did not file and pursue her modification action frivolously, unnecessarily or without foundation;
- The trial court did not analyze Section 5 of the Idaho Child Support Guidelines; and
- The trial court did not use its equitable powers to change a "grossly inadequate" child support provision of the judgment.

The issue of attorney's fees was submitted to the trial judge without a hearing. On May 15, 2013, the Order Granting Attorney's Fees was entered, which states "Based upon the oral findings of the court, IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendant's Motion for Attorney's Fees is hereby *GRANTED* in the amount of ONE THOUSAND TWELVE DOLLARS AND FIFTY CENTS (\$1012.50)." Thus, Chris was awarded the full amount of attorney's fees requested by him.

On March 29, 2013, Monica appealed the trial judge's decision to the District Court. On December 30, 2013, the parties presented oral argument to the District Court Judge Duff McKee on Monica's appeal. On January 15, 2014, District Judge McKee's Memorandum Decision was filed, which affirmed the trial court's decision to grant Chris' motion to dismiss. District Judge McKee specifically found at pages seven through eight of his Memorandum Decision as follows:

I conclude that the court below did not err in dismissing plaintiff's motion to modify child support because no material change in circumstances had been shown.

The established child support was fixed by agreement of the parties, with the assistance of counsel, and was approved and incorporated into the judgment and decree that was entered in this matter in November of 2012(sic) [October 26, 2010]. There was no challenge to the child support level at the time the stipulation was

offered, no motion or action for relief from the decree after its entry, and no appeal from the decree.

The well-established law in Idaho is that while the court does have continuing jurisdiction over the matter of child support, once support is fixed by final decree of a court it is subject to modification only upon a showing of permanent and substantial change in circumstances.

Thus, District Judge McKee agreed with the trial judge in holding that a substantial and material change of circumstances had not occurred, which thereby required dismissal of Monica's modification action. In District Judge McKee's Memorandum Decision, he awarded attorney's fees to Chris pursuant to Idaho Code § 12-121 on the appeal to the District Court. District Judge McKee remanded to the magistrate court the issue of the amount of attorney's fees to be awarded.

On January 24, 2014, Chris filed a memorandum of costs. On February 4, 2014, Monica filed her objection to Chris' memorandum of costs. In Monica's objection, she argued that certain charges were unnecessary, that certain charges were not separately identified by date, and that certain costs were discretionary. On February 24, 2014, a hearing was held on Chris' memorandum of costs and the court awarded attorney's fees to Chris.

On June 13, 2014, the Order Granting Attorney's Fees was filed. Monica appeals from this award of attorney's fees in addition to other issues presented herein.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Did the district judge err in affirming the decision of the magistrate court to dismiss a

motion to modify a child support provision of a judgment of divorce which was entered pursuant to the agreement of both parents but which fails to comply with the Guidelines when there is a substantial difference between the child support agreed to by the parents and the child support calculated by applying the Guidelines?

- 2. Did the district judge err in affirming that the trial court acted within the boundaries of its discretion in entering an order dismissing Monica's petition to modify child support on the grounds that the parties agreed to the judgment of divorce fixing a child support amount that could not be modified because there was no material and substantial change in circumstances?
- 3. Did the district judge err in affirming the magistrate court's decision when both the magistrate court and the district judge did not consider the claim for equitable relief to modify a child support amount fixed by the judgment of divorce so that the child support complies with the Guidelines?
- 4. Did the district judge err if affirming the trial court's decision when the trial court failed to consider the meaning of Section 5 of the Guidelines and whether such section can supply the material and substantial change of circumstances when it provides, in part, as follows: "The amount of child support provided for under these Guidelines may constitute a substantial and material change of circumstances for granting a motion for modification of child support obligations."?

- 5. Did the district judge err in his interpretation of Section 5 of the Guidelines.
- 6. Does Chris's increase in annual income from \$47,142.00 when the judgment of divorce was entered on October 26, 2010, to \$50,604.00 when Monica's complaint to modify child support was filed (an increase of \$3,462.00 or 7%), standing alone or coupled with the fact that the child support fixed by the judgment of divorce is substantially lower than the child support would have been if the Idaho Child Support Guidelines had been applied or coupled with any other fact or facts in this case constitute a material and substantial change in circumstances?
- 7. Is the child support calculated under the Guidelines for the benefit of the children?
- 8. Do parents enter into an enforceable contract if they both approve a judgment of divorce providing an amount of child support which is substantially less that the amount of child support which would be calculated by applying the Idaho Child Support Guidelines?
- 9. Did the district judge err in affirming the trial court's award of attorney's fees pursuant to Idaho Code § 12-121?
- **10.** Did the district judge err in awarding attorney's fees pursuant to Idaho Code § 12-121 on the appeal to the district court?

ATTORNEY'S FEES ON APPEAL

Monica is not requesting attorney's fees on appeal. As explained below, Monica is appealing from the attorney's fees that have been awarded to Chris by the magistrate court and the district court. Monica's appeal of the attorney's fees awards is based on three basic grounds. The first ground is that this is a new area of law that has not been addressed by Idaho's appellate courts. The second ground is that Monica believes that Section 5 of the Guidelines allows for a modification of child support in her case. The third ground is that even if current law supports Chris' position, Monica asks for a good faith modification or extension of existing law. For these reasons, Monica does not request attorney's fees on appeal. The opposition of Chris on this appeal could not be termed to be frivolous.

ARGUMENT

1. Standard of review on appeal from District Court.

In *State Dept. of Health and Welfare v. Slane*, 155 Idaho 274, 277, 311 P.3d 286 (2013), the Idaho Supreme Court explained the standard of review on appeal from the district court sitting in its appellate capacity as follows:

In an appeal from a judgment of the district court acting in its appellate capacity over a case appealed to it from the magistrate court, we review the judgment of the district court. *In re Estate of McKee*, 153 Idaho 432, 436, 283 P.3d 749, 753 (2012). We exercise free review over the issues of law decided by the district court to determine whether it correctly stated and applied the applicable law. *Kennedy v. Schneider*, 151 Idaho 440, 442, 259 P.3d 586, 588 (2011). With respect to the magistrate court's findings of fact that are challenged in the district court, we review the district court's decision as to whether those findings were supported by substantial and competent evidence. *Id.*

This case essentially comes down to the issue of whether the standard for modifying child support, requiring a substantial and material change in circumstances, is the only standard to modify child support given the distinct circumstances involved in this case. Chris, the trial court and the district judge have all stated that Monica's motion to modify child support must be dismissed because Monica has failed to prove a substantial and material change of circumstances. Monica argues that child support must be modified in this case to correct a "grossly inadequate" child support award that is in violation of Idaho public policy. Monica cites and argues several theories of how child support could be modified as were explained in the appeal to the district court and in this appeal as explained in detail below.

2. Agreements between parents exchanging child support for custodial time regularly occur and are in violation of the clear public policy that parents must support their children. Before getting into the legal arguments of Monica's case, it is helpful to understand the problem presented herein and the frequency with which this problem is encountered in the trial courts. Setting a child support amount is a common problem in all cases wherein child support is an issue. Child support becomes even more problematic when child custody is also at issue because child custody directly affects child support.

It is common knowledge that child custody and child support have been used by parties as bargaining tools. In our office, we have witnessed this bargaining since 1950. A common scenario is where one parent is somewhat disinterested in a majority of time with that parent's children.

However, once that parent realizes that child support will be higher because the other parent has the majority of time with the children, the parent makes a disingenuous effort to get more time with the children. Now the bargaining begins with one parent using custody and the other parent using child support. A compromise is often made whereby the parents agree to a child custody schedule and also agree a child support amount that is not based on the Guidelines.

This case is perhaps one of the most extreme examples of such bargaining as is shown by the differences between the Parenting Plan of September 8, 2010 and the Judgment that was entered on October 26, 2010. Monica agreed to give up all but a small fraction of the child support she was due under the Guidelines in exchange for raising her custodial time with the children from 60% of the overnights to 78% of the overnights in a year. Chris agreed to give up 18% of his overnight custodial time with the children in order to obtain a "grossly inadequate" child support figure of \$25.00 per month per child.

Lawyers for the parties also play a part in this bargaining. Whether the bargaining actually occurs through the lawyers, or through the parties, or through a mediator for the parties, the lawyers ultimately end up with the agreement that must be put into a judgment. The lawyers often prepare a written stipulation or put the agreement on the record in order to get a judgment entered. The lawyers have a duty to follow Idaho law pertaining to all issues including child support.

As explained at length below, the Guidelines and Idaho Code § 32-706(5) require that when there is going to be a deviation from the amount of support recommended under the Guidelines, there must be a record made of the reasons for deviating from the amount of child support recommended by the Guidelines. Lawyers regularly fail to create such a record in writing or by verbal stipulation on the record and thereby fail to follow Idaho law.

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