Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

9-22-2014

Garner v. Garner Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41898

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

ARGUMENT

The Magistrate Correctly Dismissed the Appellant's Petition and the District Court Correctly
 Upheld the Magistrate's Decision.

This issue is actually two separate issues: Whether this court should overturn the district court's ruling based upon public policy and, if not, whether the Appellant showed a substantial and material change of circumstances when bringing the petition.

Before addressing the legal strengths of Respondent's case, it must be noted that Appellant attempted to support her argument with supposition and made-up "facts." The Appellant opines about the motivation behind the Respondent's decision to request a dismissal. The argument set forth is neither factual nor based upon any legal justification. The opinions of Appellant that Respondent is a bad father and a terrible person are incorrect and inappropriate for a brief submitted to the Idaho Supreme Court. The Court should not consider the slanderous words and Respondent respectfully requests the rebuttal brief contain only arguments that have a factual basis in the record or are based upon solid legal arguments.

a. The Argument was Not Properly Brought Before the Magistrate.

Appellant failed to assert the public policy argument before the magistrate. As the district court stated, in addition to failing to bring this issue before the magistrate, there is no evidence in the record to support it. As a general matter, "[i]ssues not raised below and presented for the first time on appeal will not be considered for review." *Izaguirre v. R&L Carriers Shared Services, LLC,* 155 Idaho 229, 308 P.3d 929, 933 (2013).

b. The agreement does not violate public policy

In *Verska v. St. Alphonsus Regional Medical Center*, 265 P.3d 502, 151 Idaho 889 (Idaho 2011), the court found that the public policy of legislative enactments cannot be questioned by the courts and avoided simply because the courts might not agree with the public policy so announced. The Court stated that "indeed, the contention that we could revise an unambiguous statute because we believed it was absurd or would produce absurd results is itself illogical.

In *Verska*, the court was considering an appeal from an order of the district court holding that the statute making peer review records privileged applies, by its terms, to a lawsuit brought against a hospital claiming that the hospital acted in bad faith in refusing to renew a physician's privileges. In that case, Plaintiff argued that the statement of purpose accompanying that legislation indicated that it was intended to apply only to medical malpractice actions. The statement of purpose was not enacted into law. The Court held that "there is no wording in section 39-1392b that limits its scope to peer review records sought in a medical malpractice action. In that respect, the legislation is unambiguous. The asserted purpose for enacting the legislation cannot modify its plain meaning . . . If the statute as written is socially or otherwise unsound, the power to correct it is legislative, not judicial." (Citations Omitted). The interpretation of a statute "must begin with the literal words of the statute; those words must be given their plain, usual, and ordinary meaning; and the statute must be construed as a whole."

///

///

///

Idaho Code Section § 32-709 states as follows:

"The provisions of any decree respecting maintenance or support may be modified only as to installments accruing subsequent to the motion for modification and only upon a showing of a substantial and material change of circumstances."

The statute is not ambiguous. Even if this court believes the stipulation is wrong and was done in contravention to public policy, it is still bound to follow the law. It is not like the Appellant did not have protections. However, as discussed more fully below, she did not avail herself to those safeguards.

Another factor to consider is the terms of the stipulation. Child support is paid to a parent for the purpose of ensuring a child's needs are met. In this case, the Respondent contributed directly to the children's needs. The decree requires Respondent to assist in paying for clothing, food, school supplies and extracurricular activities. Those are the types of items that child support would normally cover. That the parties simply chose a more direct path for supplying these items to the children justified a deviation from the child support guidelines. The Appellant failed to make any showing at the hearing that the children's needs were no longer adequately met. Also, the stipulated agreement did not contain any language that *in any way* limited either party's support obligation. It fixed what the obligation was to be, in accordance with their agreement, and this agreement was approved by the court.

In the case at bar, the trial court considered all relevant factors, including the fact that Respondent pays a flat monetary sum to the Appellant, in addition to contributing toward clothing, school supplies, food and extracurricular activities. The mere fact that the Appellant

now has decided she doesn't like the agreement made at the time of the original decree does not magically relieve her of the legal burden of proving a material and substantial change in circumstances.

The guidelines are just that - guidelines. They may be modified or used differently depending upon circumstances. As the district court pointed out, "the guidelines were in place at the time of the original judgment. The parenting plan that was incorporated into the decree has a number of facets. Both sides were represented by competent counsel, and there is no argument or evidence that either side was misled or coerced into the agreements that were made. There is no suggested basis to set aside the trial court's original approval of the child support levels for any reason. The mere fact that the dollar amount of child support deviated from the guidelines at the time of the original judgment is irrelevant at this juncture."

Another factor to consider when determining whether deviation from the child support guidelines is a per se violation of public policy is the fact that both sides were represented by counsel. It should be noted that Appellant was not only represented by an attorney at all stages of the proceeding, but that her attorney was Stanley Welsh, who is a well-known and highly respected family law attorney, lecturer and author. It should also be noted that the decree of divorce was prepared by Appellant's attorney, including the child support amount.

Appellant argued vigorously that her agreement put her in an impossible position. However, when considering public policy, the court should also consider the options Appellant had from which to choose. First, she could have exercised her right to litigate the issue of child support and custody in lieu of entering into a stipulation. Second, if she felt she had not chosen

wisely at the time of the original decree, she was given a second chance to litigate the issue when the Respondent brought forth a modification motion. Instead of allowing the Respondent the opportunity to argue the merits of his request to spend more time with his children, the Appellant fought the Motion and, eventually, won. Had she chosen to file a Counter Claim for increased child support, both parties would have had the opportunity to get what they desired – the Respondent more time with his children and the Appellant more money.

c. Even if Magistrate Lee's decision was in error, the Appellant failed to argue it within the time prescribed by law or in the manner prescribed by law.

The Appellant is requesting this court make a collateral attack of the original judgment, which is improper. In *Levin v. Levin* 122 Idaho 583 (Idaho 1992), the father was awarded primary custody and the mother was ordered, by stipulation, to pay \$1000 per month in child support. However, the mother was quite wealthy, raking in about \$13,000,000 from a trust. Eventually, the mother sought custody. The father opposed the change in custody and moved to increase child support. The court found no material change of circumstances and denied the mother's motion, but granted father's request for increased child support to \$10,000 per month. The trial court held that the award of \$1,000 per month was overly restrictive and did not take into account the factors required by 32-706. The Idaho Supreme Court overturned the trial court's decision stating: "The trial court's portrayal of the prior magistrate's support award as being overly restrictive and not giving adequate weight to the 1980 amendments to I.C. § 32-706, amounted to a collateral attack on the earlier court's judgment which had not been appealed."

In this case, the Appellant should have brought a Motion pursuant to IRCP, Rule 60, which states

"On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect; (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59(b); (3) fraud (whether heretofore denominated intrinsic or extrinsic), misrepresentation, or other misconduct of an adverse party; (4) the judgment is void; (5) the judgment has been satisfied, released, or discharged, or a prior judgment upon which it is based has been reversed or otherwise vacated, or it is no longer equitable that the judgment should have prospective application; or (6) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment. The motion shall be made within a reasonable time, and for reasons (1), (2), and (3) not more than six (6) months after the judgment, order, or proceeding was entered or taken. A motion under this subdivision (b) does not affect the finality of a judgment or suspend its operation. Such motion does not require leave from the Supreme Court, or the district court, as the case may be, as though the judgment has been affirmed or settled upon appeal to that court. This rule does not limit the power of a court to: (i) entertain an independent action to relieve a party from a judgment, order or proceeding, or (ii) to set aside, as provided by law, within one (1) year after judgment was entered, a judgment obtained against a party who was not personally served with summons and complaint either in the state of Idaho or in any other jurisdiction, and who has failed to appear in said action, or (iii) to set aside a judgment for fraud upon the court."

As the district court noted "A motion to modify child support should not be a substitute for a timely objection or challenge to the support issue in the trial court before the entry of judgment, or to a timely challenge to the judgment itself under I.R.C.P. 60 or its equivalents, or to a timely appeal from the judgment. See *Waller v. State*, 146 Idaho 234, 239, 192 P.3d 1058, 1063 (2008) ("The trial court found, and we agree, that I.R.C.P. 60(b) is the only identifiable legal basis for Waller's request to set aside or vacate the child support order ... by exercise of the court's equitable powers.... I.R.C.P. 60(b) also recognizes the district court's authority to entertain an independent action to relieve a party from a judgment on the basis of equity.

The Appellant could have also appealed the judgment. Idaho Appellate Rule 11 grants "an appeal of the matter of right from certain judgments and court orders." Pursuant to IAR 14 appeals are made effective "only by physically filing a notice of appeal with the clerk of the District Court within 42 days from the date evidenced by the filing stamp of the clerk of the court on any judgment order or decree of the District Court appealable as a matter of right in any civil or criminal action." The Appellant did not file an appeal and the time to file such an appeal has expired.

2. The magistrate properly dismissed Appellant's petition for her failure to show a substantial and material change of circumstances.

The well-established law in Idaho is that while the court does have continuing jurisdiction over the matter of child support, once support is fixed by final decree of a court it is subject to modification only upon a showing of a permanent and substantial change in circumstances. *Kornfield v. Kornfield*. 134 Idaho 383, 385, 3 P.3d 61, 63 (Ct.App.2000). The decision of the trial court on a motion to modify child support is reviewed for an abuse of discretion on appeal. The party seeking modification carries the burden of proof. *Humberger v. Humberger*, 134 Idaho 39,42-43,995 P.2d 809, 812-13 (2000).

There does not appear to be any bright line rule as to how much of an increase in income constitutes a "substantial" change. However, the words used in the statute, "material" and "substantial", are easily defined. Substantial is defined as "of real worth or importance; of considerable value; valuable." Black's Law Dictionary, 6th edition. Material is defined as "important; more or less necessary; having influence or effect." Black Law Dictionary, 6th

edition. In the absence of a concrete rule, the legislature and the higher courts have clearly left a large amount of discretion with the trial judge.

In this case, had the Respondent paid the suggested support as set forth by the guidelines, the increase would have been negligible. Appellant is trying to convince this court that the difference in child support is \$711.50. If the Court agrees with this argument, litigants can make any deal about child support and then turn around the next day and file a motion to modify, not based on a substantial change of circumstances, but based upon the fact they simply changed their mind. This is ludicrous. If the parties had agreed to the amount recommended by the guidelines instead of the more direct agreement they did enter into, the Respondent's increase in child support would have nominal and not substantial in the least.

As noted in the District Court's opinion, the evidence was not in dispute that the only change in circumstances since the entry of judgment that applied to child support was a change of approximately \$3,000 per year in the difference between the parties' annual earnings - which amounted to an approximate 7% change overall. The District Court found that "If applied . . . , this would have meant a change of less than \$4 per month."

The district court went on to explain that

"Plaintiff relies upon Section 5 of the Idaho Child Support Guidelines, I.R.C.P. 6(c)(6), which provides that "the amount of child support provided for under these Guidelines may constitute a substantial and material change of circumstances for granting a motion for modification for child support obligations" (emphasis added). I think the only consistent way to read this provision is that the adoption of the rule could be a "change in circumstance" if the amount of support under the rule differed from an existing level of child support. Further if the guidelines as a whole are amended up or down, the event of such amendment might constitute a change supporting modification.

Here, it appears that the rule establishing the support guidelines was in existence when the original divorce degree was entered into, and there is no claim or evidence that the guidelines have been changed in any material fashion in the interim. To argue that a statute or rule that was in existence at the time of an event can be used to demonstrate a substantial change in circumstance after entry of a final judgment on that event would make no sense and flies in the face of the principle of finality of judgments and decrees

In any event, because Section 5 uses the term "may," there is no basis for this court to conclude that the trial judge, in the exercise of his discretion, erred finding that the plaintiff had not established a substantial and material change of circumstances. See Rife v. Long, 127 Idaho 841, 848, 908 P.2d 143, 150 (1995) ("When used in a statute, the word 'may' is permissive rather than the imperative or mandatory meaning of 'must' or' shall.')."

3. The Magistrate did not abuse his discretion when he awarded Appellant Attorney's Fees in the amount of \$2500 and Respondent fees in the amount of \$1012.50.

In *Woods v. Sanders*, 244 P.3d 197, 150 Idaho 53 (Idaho 2010), the magistrate found that the "factors have been met as set forth in Idaho Code § 12-121 for an award to Plaintiff of his reasonable attorney's fees in this matter." At trial, the magistrate stated: "Based on the answer provided by Ms. Sanders and the documents she has filed, I am going to grant your motion based on 12-121. Because Sanders did not provide any admissible evidence to support her defense against the modification for child custody other than the unsupported allegations presented in her affidavit, and because she failed to attend the trial or any other hearing, the magistrate had sufficient evidence to conclude that Sanders acted unreasonably in defending the modification motion. Therefore, the magistrate did not abuse its discretion and this Court affirms the award of attorney fees."

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